S181611

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

S_____

SAMUEL MOSES NELSON,

v.

ISSUES PRESENTED

When a juvenile defendant asks to speak to a parent, after a knowing and voluntary waiver of his Fifth Amendment rights, and interrogation continues until there is a confession, should a trial court apply the United States Supreme Court's objective, reasonable officer test (*Davis v. United States* (1994) 512 U.S. 452 [114 S.Ct. 2350, 129 L.Ed.2d 362]) to determine if the juvenile has invoked his Fifth Amendment rights which means interrogation must cease?

REASONS FOR REVIEW

Review is necessary in this case to clarify a unsettled area of law involving which United States Supreme Court test to apply to determine whether a juvenile, who has waived his rights under *Miranda v. Arizona* (1966) 384 U.S. 436 [86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694] (*Miranda*), thereafter invokes his *Miranda* rights by asking to speak to a parent.

In Fare v. Michael C. (1979) 442 U.S. 707, 725 [99 S.Ct. 2560, 61 L.Ed.2d 197] (Fare), the United States Supreme Court held that whether an adult or juvenile suspect has waived his Fifth Amendment rights is

determined by application of a totality of circumstances test. (*Fare, supra,* 442 U.S. at p. 725.)

In *People v. Lessie* (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1152, this Court applied *Fare's* totality of circumstances test to a minor, to determine if a request to speak to a parent precluded a waiver of the right against self-incrimination during police interrogation. *Lessie* disapproved the special rule in *People v. Burton* (1971) 6 Cal.3d 375, that a minor's request to speak to a parent is a per se invocation of *Miranda* rights.

The Court of Appeal in appellant's case ruled that although the minor initially knowingly and voluntarily waived his *Miranda* rights, his request thereafter to speak to his mother was tantamount to a request for an attorney which should have ended the interrogation. The appellate court thus effectively resurrected the special rule in *Burton* which this Court had just disapproved in *Lessie*. Moreover, the appellate court expressly rejected the application of *Davis v. United States* (1994) 512 U.S. 452 [114 S.Ct. 2350; 129 L.Ed.2d 362] to a minor.

Davis held that after a valid Miranda waiver, "[I]f a suspect makes a reference to an attorney that is ambiguous or equivocal in that a reasonable officer in light of the circumstances would have understood only that the suspect might be invoking the right to counsel, our precedents do not require the cessation of questioning." (Id. at p. 459, emphasis in original.) This Court applied Davis to adults in People v. Gonzalez (2005) 34 Cal.4th 1111, 1125, noting, "Davis now provides the standard by which we assess whether a defendant's reference to counsel constituted an unambiguous and unequivocal invocation of the right to counsel." (Citations omitted.) Fare found no reason not to apply the totality of circumstances rule to all defendants, whether adults or minors. Similarly, Davis should apply to juveniles as well as adults.

A grant of review by this Court is necessary to establish for lower courts whether the objective, reasonable officer test (*Davis*) applies to juveniles, as it does to adults, who have waived their *Miranda* rights and thereafter ask to speak to a parent, but not to speak to an attorney.

Respondent respectfully asks this Court to reverse the Court of Appeal's decision and to affirm appellant's murder burglary and murder convictions.

CASE HISTORY AND FACTS

In April 2004, appellant burglarized Katherine Parks' home in Laguna Niguel and took two purses. In May 2004, appellant burglarized Sheryl Adler's home in Laguna Niguel and took two wallets and a checkbook. On June 18, 2004, appellant burglarized Jane Thompson's home in Laguna Niguel and took her purse, credit cards and a checkbook. (1 CT 11-13, 20-23, 34.)

On June 20, 2004, Thompson's neighbor, 15 year old Samuel Nelson, used Thompson's stolen Visa card to purchase \$245 worth of lobster and steak at one restaurant and \$600 worth of food at another. His third attempt to use Thompson's checks to buy \$35 worth of sandwiches was a failure. (1 CT 41-43, 63-74.)

On June 26, 2004, deputies found 72-year-old Thompson beaten to death in her home. She died of massive blunt force head trauma, with multiple skull fractures and brain hemorrhaging. (1 CT 25, 30; 2 RT 345, 349-350.)

On June 28, 2004, deputies spoke with appellant who admitted going into Thompson's house, but claimed he entered at her request. (1 CT 29-30.) Appellant said he would take a polygraph exam. (3 CT 525.) The next day, deputies approached appellant and asked him to come to the station for further discussion. He agreed, and they drove him to the station

where, as the Court of Appeal found, he knowingly and voluntarily waived his *Miranda* rights and later confessed. (1 CT 35-41, 50-51, 59-60; 2 RT 350-354.)

Long after his *Miranda* waiver and before his confession, appellant asked to speak to his mother. (1 RT 224.) He answered more questions, and asked several more times to speak with his mother, then answered more questions. He never asked to speak to an attorney. (1 RT 214; 3 CT 635-641, 647, 657-667, 687-696, 699-701.)

Appellant admitted burglarizing the Parks, Adler and Thompson residences, admitted using Thompson's stolen Visa card, and described in detail how he killed Thompson by hitting her on the head with a hammer, initially because she stirred in her sleep, and then because some of her blood got in his mouth as a result of the first blow to her head. (1 CT 35-41.)

After a court trial, appellant was found guilty of one count of murder and five counts of burglary, in large part based on his confession and on evidence that was discovered as a result of it. He was sentenced to an indeterminate term of twenty-five-years-to-life for the murder, and concurrent terms for the burglaries.

On February 25, 2010, the Court of Appeal reversed the murder conviction and two burglary counts. (Slip opn. at p. 32.) It held that, although appellant voluntarily and knowingly waived his *Miranda* rights initially, the officers should have known that during interrogation, the first time he asked to speak to his mother – two hours into the interrogation — he was actually asking to speak to an attorney, and questioning should have terminated immediately. The court applied the totality of circumstances test in *Fare*, *supra*, 442 U.S. at p. 725, and *Lessie*, *supra*, 47 Cal.4th at p. 1168. The Court of Appeal expressly declined to apply *Davis v. United States* to appellant, stating that neither *Fare* nor *Lessie* suggested "that the

totality-of-circumstances test must be abandoned when evaluating whether a postwaiver request to speak to a parent constitutes an invocation of a minor's *Miranda* rights." (Slip opn. at p. 31.)

A strong dissent argued the objective, reasonable officer test in *Davis* was the proper test under the federal Constitution to determine if a suspect, adult or juvenile, has unambiguously invoked his Fifth Amendments rights, after an initially valid *Miranda* waiver. (Dis. opn. at pp. 1-5, 7-9. 12-14.) Respondent's petition for rehearing was denied on March 23, 2010, by the Court of Appeal.

ARGUMENT

A. Review is Necessary to Establish That Once a Minor Has Waived His Miranda Rights, Any Subsequent Invocation of a Right to Counsel Must be Judged Under the Reasonable Officer Test.

The Court of Appeal, while applying the *Fare* totality of the circumstances test, has added a gloss that appears to treat juveniles specially by construing a request to speak to a parent as a request to speak to an attorney, and in so doing has revived the *Burton* test. This Court should take the opportunity to establish that, as under federal law, only a request for an attorney is a request for an attorney, and that an interrogating officer need not try to fathom what the adolescent means when he asks to speak to a parent, but instead may rely on the bright line test established by the United States Supreme Court in *Davis*, *supra*, 512 U.S. 460.

B. Background and the Demise of the Special Rule for Juveniles in *People v. Burton*

In *People v. Burton*, this Court held that when a minor is taken into custody and is subjected to interrogation without the presence of an attorney, "his request to see one of his parents, made at any time prior to or

during questioning, must, in the absence of evidence demanding a contrary conclusion, be construed to indicate that the minor suspect desires to invoke his Fifth Amendment privilege." (*Burton, supra,* 6 Cal.3d at pp. 383-384.)

In 1978, the California Supreme Court extended the *Burton* rule to a minor's request to see his probation officer, equating it with the request for an attorney. (*In re Michael C.* (1978) 21 Cal.3d 471, 722-723.)

However, in Fare v. Michael C., supra, 442 U.S. 707, the United States Supreme Court reversed this Court, and established that there is in fact no separate test for minors, and that what courts are supposed to do in analyzing Miranda waiver situations, for adults or minors, is to look at the totality of the circumstances. (Fare, supra, at pp. 724-725, italics added.) In Fare, while the minor was advised of his Miranda rights and being informed he had the right to have an attorney present during interrogation, he asked if he could speak with his probation officer. The police said no. He then expressly agreed to talk without an attorney being present and thereafter made incriminating statements which were admitted at trial. Fare stated:

This totality-of-the-circumstances approach is adequate to determine whether there has been a waiver even where interrogation of juveniles is involved. We discern no persuasive reasons why any other approach is required where the question is whether a juvenile has waived his rights, as opposed to whether an adult has done so. The totality approach permits-indeed, it mandates--inquiry into all the circumstances surrounding the interrogation. This includes evaluation of the juvenile's age, experience, education, background, and intelligence, and into whether he has the capacity to understand the warnings given him, the nature of his Fifth Amendment rights, and the consequences of waiving those rights. [Citation.]

(Fare, supra, 442 U.S. at p. 725.)

In Fare, supra, 442 U.S. 407, the United States Supreme Court reasoned that only the request for a lawyer could automatically trigger

constitutional protections as "the lawyer occupies a critical position in our legal system because of his unique ability to protect the Fifth Amendment rights of a client undergoing custodial interrogation. [¶] The per se aspect of Miranda was thus based on the unique role the lawyer plays in the adversary system of criminal justice in this country. Whether it is a minor or an adult who stands accused, the lawyer is the one person to whom society as a whole looks as the protector of the legal rights of that person in his dealings with the police and the courts." (Ahmed A. v. Superior Court (1989) 215 Cal.App.3d 528, 537, quoting Fare v. Michael C., supra, 442 U.S. at p. 719.)

However, *Fare* did not expressly overrule *Burton*. That task fell to this Court, which did so in *Lessie*. This court ruled,

... [T] he special rule for minors announced in *Burton*, supra, 6 Cal.3d 375, cannot fairly be rationalized, or correctly perpetuated, as nothing more than a restatement of the federal totality-of-the-circumstances test. By its own terms, Burton requires courts to give at least presumptive weight to a minor's request to see a parent in determining whether the minor has invoked the Fifth Amendment privilege. This is more than federal law compels. As the court in Fare, supra, 442 U.S. 707, 725, explained, "[w]here the age and experience of a juvenile indicate that his request for his parents is, in fact, an invocation of his right to remain silent, the totality approach will allow the court the necessary flexibility to take this into account in making a waiver determination." That Burton goes beyond the unadorned totality-of-the-circumstances test in attributing weight to a minor's request for a parent is clear; precisely how much farther it goes is not. But however far beyond that test Burton does go, it goes too far. The Truth-in-Evidence provision (Cal. Const., art. I, § 28, subd. (f)(2)) permits the courts of this state to exclude a defendant's self-incriminatory statements only under the compulsion of federal law. (Citation.)

(Lessie, supra, 47 Cal.4th at p. 1168, footnote omitted.)

In *Lessie*, the 16 year old defendant asked to speak to his father while being transported to the police station and prior to waiving *Miranda* rights.

He repeated the request to speak to his father after confessing. The trial court denied the motion to exclude the original confession and a second confession made several months later at juvenile hall, despite a *Burton* argument. The trial court found as a factual matter that Lessie's purpose in asking to speak with his father had not been to assert his right to remain silent or to obtain the assistance of counsel. (*Lessie* at p. 1160.) Having rejected *Lessie's* argument that he had invoked his Fifth Amendment privilege, the court rejected the additional argument that the confession at juvenile hall violated *Edwards v. Arizona* (1981) 451 U.S. 477, 484-485 [101 S.Ct. 1880, 68 L.Ed.2d 378]. (*Lessie, supra,* 47 Cal.4th at p. 1161.)

Lessie emphasized that the United States Supreme Court in Fare painstakingly reiterated the rule that only a request for an attorney constitutes a per se invocation of a suspect's Fifth Amendment privilege. When there is no request for an attorney, the court held, "the determination whether statements obtained during custodial interrogation are admissible against the accused is to be made upon an inquiry into the totality of the circumstances surrounding the interrogation, to ascertain whether the accused in fact knowingly and voluntarily decided to forgo his rights to remain silent and to have the assistance of counsel." (Fare, 442 U.S. at pp. 724-725.) "This totality-of-the-circumstances approach," the court continued, "is adequate to determine whether there has been a waiver even where interrogation of juveniles is involved." (Id., at p. 725; Lessie, supra, 47 Cal.4th at pp. 1165-1166, emphasis added.)

This Court concluded in *Lessie* that, "the Truth-in-Evidence provision of the Constitution (Cal. Const., art. I, § 28, subd. (f)(2)) leaves us with no power to exclude a minor's self-incriminatory statements except as federal law requires, and federal law requires us to apply not the presumptive rule of *Burton*, *supra*, 6 Cal.3d 375, 383-384, but the totality-of-the-circumstances rule of *Fare*, *supra*, 442 U.S. 707, 724-726. (*Lessie*, *supra*,

47 Cal.4th at p. 1167.) The trial court rejected the argument that Lessie had invoked his Fifth Amendment rights by asking to speak to his father and admitted both confessions. Lessie involved the question of whether that juvenile knowingly and voluntarily initially waived his *Miranda* rights, not whether he desired to invoke those rights after a valid waiver.

C. The Objective Test in *Davis* Is Applicable after a Knowing and Voluntary Waiver of *Miranda* Rights

After a knowing and voluntary waiver of *Miranda* rights, law enforcement officers may continue questioning until and unless the suspect clearly and unambiguously requests an attorney. (*Davis, supra, 512 U.S.* at p. 461.) "[I]f a suspect makes a reference to an attorney that is ambiguous or equivocal in that a reasonable officer in light of the circumstances would have understood only that the suspect *might* be invoking the right to counsel, our precedents do not require the cessation of questioning." (*Id.* at p. 459, emphasis in original.)

As noted above, the United States Supreme Court has stated that only the request for a lawyer automatically triggers constitutional protections since "the lawyer occupies a critical position in our legal system because of his unique ability to protect the Fifth Amendment rights of a client undergoing custodial interrogation. (*Fare v. Michael C., supra,* 442 U.S. at p. 719.)

In *Davis*, the adult defendant was advised of, and waived his *Miranda* rights, then, an hour and a half into the interview with Naval Investigative Service agents, said, "Maybe I should talk to a lawyer." (*Davis, supra, 512* U.S. at p. 455.) The agents reminded Davis of his right to counsel and told him they would not interrogate him further until he clarified whether he was requesting counsel. He told them he did not want an attorney and, after again being reminded of his right to remain silent and to counsel, the interrogation proceeded until he said, "I think I want a lawyer before I say

anything else," and questioning ceased. (Davis, supra, 512 U.S. at p. 455.) Davis concluded that a reasonable officer would have understood only that "the suspect might be invoking the right to counsel," which is insufficient to require cessation of questioning. (Davis, supra, 512 U.S. at p. 459, emphasis added.) The question is not what the defendant understood himself to be saying, but what a reasonable officer in the circumstances would have understood the defendant to be saying. (Davis at p. 460; Gonzalez at p. 1126.)

D. The Trial Court Properly Relied on Davis v. United States

Here, after testimony from appellant and others, briefing and oral argument, the trial court denied appellant's motion to suppress his confessions, finding that under *Davis v. United States, supra,* 512 U.S. 452, appellant's requests to speak with his mother long after he had validly waived his rights were not unambiguous requests to speak to an attorney, and the officers were not required to terminate questioning. (2 RT 314-315, 317.) Before trial, when the *Miranda* issue was renewed as a motion in limine, the court stood by its original findings and denied the motion again. (6 CT 1603; 2 RT 333-334.)

Applying the factors in *Fare's* totality of circumstances test, the trial court found appellant's statements were voluntary because he displayed a significant amount of sophistication; he was intelligent, articulate, had prior police contacts and prior *Miranda* advisements, and was not a "vulnerable waif" who was being steamrollered by the police. (2 RT 310-311.) The trial court expressly resolved the credibility issue against appellant, finding that "the young Mr. Nelson here has zero credibility with the court." (2 RT 295, 315-317.).

Notwithstanding this record, the appellate court declined to apply the objective test in *Davis* to appellant's claim that his request to speak to his

mother was the legal equivalent of a request to speak with an attorney. (Slip opn. at pp. 30-31)

However, as stated in the dissent, in this post-waiver context, it is Davis which sets out the applicable test rather than Fare. Thus, "Davis does not focus on divining the suspect's subjective intent -- which may have been confused or inchoate -- in uttering particular words, but rather on the officer's objectively reasonable observations as to whether the suspect is revoking the previous waiver of *Miranda's* Fifth Amendment guarantees. Therefore, "If the suspect's statement is not an unambiguous or unequivocal request for counsel, the officers have no obligation to stop questioning him." (Dis. opn. at p. 2, citing, *Davis, supra*, 512 U.S. at pp. 461-462.) Here, the officers knew appellant had experience dealing with law enforcement and the juvenile justice system, had served a two-month juvenile commitment, and he displayed the physical and emotional characteristics of a hardened and streetwise young adult. When appellant explained he wanted "to let [his mother] know what is happening" and talk to her about whether to take the polygraph (maj. opn. ante, at p. 17), a reasonable officer could conclude Nelson's request to speak with his mother was not a request for an attorney. Because this statement and Nelson's other statements that followed were ambiguous, officers could proceed with the interview. (See People v. Stitely (2005) 35 Cal.4th 514, finding Davis applies not only to post-waiver invocations of the right to counsel but also to the right to silence; dis. opn. at p. 2.)

Although the People have the burden to prove a *Miranda* waiver is knowing and voluntary, once there is a valid waiver, as here, "if a suspect subsequently requests an attorney" questioning must cease, but this protection "must be affirmatively invoked by the suspect." (*Davis, supra,* 512 U.S., at p. 459; dis. slip opn. at p. 1.) The trial court found appellant's requests to speak with his mother were ambiguous and not clear

invocations of his right to stop answering questions or to speak with an attorney. There is substantial evidence in the record to support the trial court's findings. The reviewing court must "accept the trial court's resolution of disputed facts and inferences, and its evaluations of credibility, if supported by substantial evidence." (*Gonzalez* at p. 1125; dis. opn. at p. 4.)

Here appellant asked repeatedly to speak with his mother, not with an attorney. He talked to his grandmother and he talked to his brother, both of whom told him to wait to talk to his mother or an attorney before taking a polygraph. He asked again to talk to his mother but not to an attorney. To find that the first time appellant asked to speak to his mother – two hours after waiving his *Miranda* rights – that he unambiguously and actually meant he wanted to speak to an attorney finds no support in the case law except in *Burton*, which is defunct. As explained in *Fare* and noted above, only the request for a lawyer automatically triggers constitutional protections as "the lawyer occupies a critical position in our legal system because of his unique ability to protect the Fifth Amendment rights of a client undergoing custodial interrogation." (*Fare, supra,* 442 U.S. at p. 719.)

There is no explanation in the appellate opinion why a juvenile's waiver of *Miranda* rights is subject to the same test as an adult's pursuant to the United States Supreme Court in *Fare, supra,* 442 U.S. at p. 725, but analyzed under a different standard than an adult when purportedly asserting those rights after a valid *Miranda* waiver. In short, in the circumstances of this case, the appellate court's refusal to apply *Davis* to a juvenile carves out the same kind of "special rule" for minors rejected by the California Supreme Court in *Lessie*, and the United States Supreme Court in *Fare*.

Respondent respectfully asks this Court grant review to determine the applicability of the United States Supreme Court's objective test in *Davis* to a juvenile defendant who has knowingly and voluntarily waived his *Miranda* rights, then asked to speak to a his mother but not an attorney, in light of the demise of *Burton* in *People v. Lessie*, and therefore reverse the Court of Appeal's conclusion that appellant's confessions should have been suppressed.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, respondent respectfully requests that this Court grant review of the Court of Appeal's decision, which erroneously found appellant's confessions should have been suppressed, and affirm appellant's convictions for one count of murder and two counts of burglary.