SUPPEME COURT No. 181611

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA COPY

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff and Respondent.

Court of Appeal No. G040151

v.

Superior Court No. 04ZF0072

SAMUEL MOSES NELSON, Defendant and Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF ORANGE COUNTY LED HONORABLE FRANK F. FASEL, JUDGE PRESIDING

APR 8 0 2010

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy



Mary Woodward Wells Post Office Box #3069 Del Mar, California 92014 (858) 481-5341 State Bar No.182419

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant Mr. Samuel Moses Nelson

By appointment of the Court of Appeal under the Appellate Defenders, Inc. Independent case system.

ARGUMENT

I.

WHERE THE COURT OF APPEAL APPLIED THE WELL-SETTLED TOTALITY OF CIRCUMSTANCES TEST IN DETERMINING THAT INCRIMINATING ORAL AND WRITTEN STATEMENTS BY THE FIFTEEN-YEAR-OLD APPELLANT WERE OBTAINED IN VIOLATION OF HIS MIRANDA RIGHTS, REVIEW IS UNNECESSARY.

In seeking this court's review, respondent challenges the Court of Appeal's application of the well-settled totality of circumstances test as articulated by the United States Supreme Court over thirty years ago in Fare v. Michael C. (1979) 442 U.S. 707 ("Fare") and more recently by this Court in People v. Lessie (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1152 ("Lessie") in determining that multiple parental requests by the fifteen-year-old Nelson, when viewed in context, compelled exclusion of his subsequent confession and, thus, the reversal of his convictions for murder and two of three burglaries.

As appellant will show, review is unnecessary because resolution of this issue by the Fourth District majority presents no unsettled area of the law needing clarification. (California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b).)

A. The Majority Merely Applied Well-Settled Legal Principles to a Record-Based Analysis.

On appeal, Nelson argued that his statements were improperly admitted because they were obtained in violation of his Fifth Amendment *Miranda* rights – either under the rule of *People v. Burton* (1971) 6 Cal.3d 375) which presumes a minor invokes his Fifth Amendment privileges by

asking for a parent or, in the alternative, under the federal totality of circumstances rule adopted in *Fare, supra*, 442 U.S. 707.

At the time, this Court had granted review in *People v. Lessie* (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1152 to re-examine *Burton* and address the "long standing, unresolved conflict between binding precedents" regarding the standard that should be applied for juveniles invoking their Fifth Amendment *Miranda*² rights to silence and counsel in the context of a custodial interrogation. (*Id.* at p. 1168.) In fact, this Court declared that the totality of circumstances approach in *Fare* – which mandates inquiry into all the circumstances surrounding the interrogation – is the appropriate legal test to apply to determine whether a juvenile suspect has validly invoked his *Miranda* rights. (*Ibid.*)

Recognizing the binding nature of this court's decisions on all the state courts (*Auto Equity Sales, Inc. v. Superior Court* (1962) 57 Cal.2d 450, 455), the Court of Appeal majority, as required, applied the *Fare/Lessie* totality of circumstances test to the undisputed facts of this case, and concluded "Nelson's parental requests, when viewed in context, compel exclusion of his subsequent confession." (Slip opn., at p. 2.) And rightfully so. Substantial evidence of appellant's repeated please to talk to his mother, his numerous efforts to end the conversation about the murder,

² Miranda v Arizona (1966) 384 U.S. 436 ("Miranda").

and the coercive and lengthy interrogation tactics employed by the authorities unambiguously demonstrate that "Nelson's purpose in requesting to speak with his mother was to secure her assistance to protect his Fifth Amendment rights." (Slip opn., at p. 30.)

Respondent acknowledges that the Court of Appeal majority applied the Fare/Lessie totality of circumstances test to the facts of this case as required. However, invoking the dissenting opinion, it contends the majority improperly "added a gloss" to its evaluation that appears to treat juveniles specially by construing a parental request as an invocation of his Miranda rights, "effectively resurrect[ing] the special rule in Burton." (PFR, at p. 2.)

Respondent is mistaken. Indeed, the totality of the circumstances test, as applied to juveniles,³ necessarily includes an assessment of a minor's age and experience in determining whether there's been an effective invocation of his Fifth Amendment rights. (*Lessie, supra,* 47 Cal.4th at p. 1169.) The courts have never been held to "blind themselves to the differences between minors and adults in this context." (*Lessie, supra,* 47

³ As stated in *Fare, supra*, 442 U.S. at p. 725, "the totality approach permits – indeed it mandates – inquiry into all the circumstances surrounding the interrogation. This includes evaluation of the juvenile's age, experience, education, background, and intelligence, and into whether he has the capacity to understand the warnings given him, the nature of his Fifth Amendment rights and the consequences of waiving those rights. [Citaiton.]"

Cal.4th at p. 1167.) And, here, the Court of Appeal properly inquired into "all the circumstances surrounding the interrogation" (*People v. Lessie, supra,* 47 Cal.4th at 1167) in finding appellant's *Miranda* rights were violated when, after being accused of murder, he requested to speak with his mother "to let her know what was happening" and explained that he wanted to "talk to her about it [and] see what [he] should do." (Slip opn., at p. 2.)

B. The Trial Court Improperly Relied on the Objective Reasonable Officer Test in *Davis v. United States*.

Respondent, again invoking the dissenting opinion in this case, maintains that the trial court properly denied appellant's motion to suppress his confession under the "reasonable officer" test of *Davis v. United States, supra, 512 U.S. 452 ("Davis")*, and finding under the totality of the circumstances that appellant's requests to speak with his mother after he had validly waived his rights were not unambiguous requests to speak to an attorney and the officers were not required to terminate questioning. (PFR, p. 10.)

This argument must be rejected. Not only was *Davis* limited to the narrow question of an adult's post-waiver invocation of the right to counsel. In holding that an adult suspect's statement must be reviewed from the perspective of "a reasonable police officer," *Davis* apparently removed the need to even consider a defendant's personal characteristics, in direct contravention of this Court's clear directive in *Lessie* to review the totality

of the circumstances in determining whether a juvenile has invoked his Fifth Amendment rights during a custodial interrogation.⁴

Whether a juvenile's age and experience are among the "variety of reasons" not to be considered is not entirely clear. (Slip opn, dissent, at p. 3.) What is clear, however, is that this Court has already decided the totality of the circumstances test, as articulated in Fare, supra, controls and that "nothing said by the Fare or Lessie courts suggests [that this test] must be abandoned when evaluating whether a post-waiver request to speak to a parent constitutes an invocation of a minor's Miranda rights." (Slip op. at p. 31.) Indeed, to apply the officer-based test announced in Davis to an assessment of a juvenile's right to remain silent and counsel would be tantamount to a rejection of over 60 years of jurisprudence recognizing the innate differences between juveniles and adults and the corresponding need, in particular, to use "special caution" in assessing confessions of juveniles. (See, e.g., Haley v. Ohio (1948) 332 U.S. 596, 599; and In re Gault (1967) 387 U.S. 1, 45.)

We recognize that requiring a clear assertion of the right to counsel might disadvantage some suspects who – because of fear, intimidation, lack of linguistic skills, or a variety of other reasons – will not clearly articulate their right to counsel although they actually want to have a lawyer present. (Davis v. United States, supra, 512 U.S. at 460; italics added.)

⁴ As our country's highest court held in *Davis*, *supra*:

Under the circumstances here, there is no basis for construing the

fifteen-year-old appellant's requests to speak to his mother as anything

other than an invocation of his Fifth Amendment rights. The dissent has

made a weak attempt to parse out appellant's request to defer taking the

polygraph, submitting that a suspect's hesitancy to take a lie detector test is

not necessarily an automatic assertion of *Miranda*. (Slip.opn., dissent, at p.

14.) However, the fact is, reversal was required here because as the

majority court found, under the circumstances, "any reasonable officer

would know Nelson wanted the questioning to stop." (Slip opn., at p. 27.)

In short, this case presents no grounds for review and respondent's

petition should be denied.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, defendant-appellant Samuel Moses Nelson

requests this court deny review of the issue presented by the Attorney

General.